

Medizinische Fakultät der Universität Zürich

Factsheet Zahnmedizin

Autor:in: Dr Chun Ching Liu

Co-Autor:innen: PD Dr Nadja Nänni; Dr Lisa Takeshita; Dr Aleksandra Zumbrunn; Dr

Valérie Schmidt-Ziltener; Dr Liza Ramenzoni, Elena van der Heijden, Dr Anina

Zürcher, Prof. Dr Patrick Schmidlin

1. Juni 2023

Ergänzend hierzu: Foliensatz zum Factsheet Zahnmedizin

Vorbemerkung: Das Factsheet [Name des Fachs] stellt, wie alle anderen Factsheets, beispielhaft einzelne Geschlechterunterschiede dar. Es erhebt keinen Anspruch auf vollständige Darstellung der Problematik. Die Kommission ist sich der verschiedenen, fachspezifischen Perspektiven auf Gender/Geschlecht bewusst. Alle Factsheets wurden in der Kommission Sex and Gender in Medicine der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität Zürich diskutiert und in der vorliegenden Form verabschiedet. Die inhaltliche Verantwortung liegt bei den Autorinnen und Autoren.



Inhaltsverzeichnis Factsheet Zahnmedizin

Inhaltsverzeichnis

1 Clinic of Reconstructive Dentistry	4
1.1 Pain Perception – Sex & Gender	4
1.2 Sex Differences in Analgesia	4
1.3 Implant Insertion Time-point – Sex & Age as compromising Factors	4
1.4 Implant Infraposition & Loss of Contact Point	4
2 Clinic of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery - Department of Oral Surgery	5
2.1 Wisdom tooth extraction	5
2.2 Fibro-osseous lesions	5
2.3 Antiresorptive-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw (ARONJ)	5
2.4 Root resorptions	5
2.5 Cysts of the jaw	5
2.6 Dental trauma	5
2.7 Dental Implants	5
2.8 Stomatology	5
3 Clinic of Conservative and Preventive Dentistry	6
3.1 Oral health, caries, and microbiome	6
3.2 Dental treatment	7
3.3 Gingival recession	7
3.4 Periodontitis	7
3.5 Diabetes and Periodontitis	7
3.6 Dentists' gender	7
3.7 Gingival inflammation	7
3.8 Caries	7
3.9 Periodontitis and Osteoporosis	7
3.10 Oral contrceptives and Periodontitis	7
4 Clinic of Masticatory Disorders	8
4.1 Temporomandibular Disorders	8
4.2 Primary Headaches	8
4.3 Trigeminal neuralgia	9
4.4 Burning Mouth Syndrome	9
5 Clinic of General, Special Care and Geriatic Dentistry	9
5.1 Tooth loss and edentulism	9
5.2 Denture stomatitis	9
5.3 Xerostomia and Hyposalivation	9

Inhaltsverzeichnis Factsheet Zahnmedizin

5.4 Stroke and Post-stroke dysphagia	10
5.5 Oral potentially malignant disorders	10

1 Clinic of Reconstructive Dentistry

1.1 Pain Perception – Sex & Gender

First, the prevalence of most common forms of pain is higher among women than men, and women report greater pain after invasive procedures than men, though these findings are less consistent. (Bartley et al. 2013; Fillingim et al. 1995; J. L. Riley et al. 1998)

Also, only recently evidence has emerged indicating that men may exhibit greater diffuse noxious inhibitory controls (DNIC) than women, and recent findings suggest that DNIC may be particularly predictive of clinical pain (R. B. Fillingim et al. 2009).

1.2 Sex Differences in Analgesia

While not a direct measure of analgesic response, studies of self-administration of opioids using patient-controlled analgesia (PCA) have revealed lower postoperative opioid consumption among women than men in several studies, as previously reviewed by Miaskowski and Levine (Miaskowski C et al .1999; Pisanu et al. 2019).

1.3 Implant Insertion Time-point – Sex & Age as compromising Factors

The skeletal growth status can be assessed accurately by comparing conventional radiographs of both the hand and wrist to standardized atlas of bone development. Special care should be taken regarding the region of the desired implant placement. The anterior maxilla poses the highest risk in further facial growth (Op Heij et al. 2003). Implants placed after age 15 in girls and 18 in boys have the most predictable prognosis (Cronin et al. 1994).

1.4 Implant Infraposition & Loss of Contact Point

Implant Infraposition (IIP)

A significant influence of patient sex on IIP was found, indicating that male patients were associated with milder IIP than female patients. This might be attributed to the more pronounced increase of anterior face height and posterior rotation of the mandible seen among female patients (Jemt,T et al. 2007). Especially in late

growth periods of 25–45 years of age, female patients seem to have greater increases in both overbite and upper anterior face height than male patients (Bishara, S.E. et al. 1998), which might explain at least in part this sex-specific difference in IIP.

Male patients were less prone to IIP than female patients (three studies; OR = 0.30; 95% CI = 0.10-0.88; p = 0.03) (Papageorgiou et al. 2018).

REFERENCES:

Bartley EJ, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in pain: a brief review of clinical and experimental findings. Br J Anaesth. 2013 Jul;111(1):52-8. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet127. PMID: 23794645; PMCID: PMC3690315.

Bishara SE, Jakobsen JR, Hession TJ, Treder JE. Soft tissue profile changes from 5 to 45 years of age. *Am J Orthod Dentofacial Orthop.* 1998;114(6):698-706. doi:10.1016/s0889-5406(98)70203-3

Cronin RJ Jr, Oesterle LJ, Ranly DM. Mandibular implants and the growing patient. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Implants*. 1994;9(1):55-62.

Jemt T, Ahlberg G, Henriksson K, Bondevik O. Tooth movements adjacent to single-implant restorations after more than 15 years of follow-up. *Int J Prosthodont*. 2007;20(6):626-632

Miaskowski C, Levine JD: Does opioid analgesia show a gender preference for females? *Pain Forum* 34-44, 1999.

Op Heij DG, Opdebeeck H, van Steenberghe D, Quirynen M. Age as compromising factor for implant insertion. *Periodontol 2000.* 2003; 33:172-184. doi:10.1046/j.0906-6713.2003.03314.x

Papageorgiou SN, Eliades T, Hämmerle CHF. Frequency of infraposition and missing contact points in implant-supported restorations within natural dentitions over time: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *Clin Oral Implants Res.* 2018;29 Suppl 18:309-325. doi:10.1111/clr.13291

Pisanu C, Franconi F, Gessa GL, Mameli S, Pisanu GM, Campesi I, Leggio L, Agabio R. Sex differences in the

response to opioids for pain relief: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Pharmacol Res. 2019 Oct;148:104447. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2019.104447. Epub 2019 Sep 6. PMID: 31499196.

R.B. Fillingim, W. Maixner. Gender differences in the responses to noxious stimuli. *Pain Forum*, 1995, 209-221.

Riley JL 3rd, Robinson ME, Wise EA, Myers CD, Fillingim RB. Sex differences in the perception of noxious experimental stimuli: a meta-analysis. *Pain.* 1998;74(2-3):181-187. doi:10.1016/s0304-3959(97)00199-1

Roger B Fillingim, Christopher D King, Margarete C Ribeiro-Dasilva, Bridgett Rahim-Williams, Joseph L Riley 3rd. Sex, gender, and pain: a review of recent clinical and experimental findings, *Pain*. 2009. 447-85.

2 Clinic of Cranio-Maxillofacial Surgery - Department of Oral Surgery

2.1 Wisdom tooth extraction

After surgical wisdom tooth extraction, wound infections occur significantly more frequently in female patients than in male patients. A connection with the use of oral contraceptives has been proven (Filippi 2001; Xu et al. 2015).

2.2 Fibro-osseous lesions

9x more frequently in women (Ahmad et al. 2018; Pick et al. 2022).

2.3 Antiresorptive-associated osteonecrosis of the jaw (ARONJ)

ARONJ occurs more frequently in women than in men. This is due to drug therapy for osteoporosis, which occurs more frequently in women than in men (Pick et al. 2021)

2.4 Root resorptions

Root resorptions triggered by impacted canines occur more than twice as frequently in women than in men (Bornstein et al 2017).??

2.5 Cysts of the jaw

The nasopalatine cyst, as well as the odontogenic keratocyst, occur more frequently in men than in women (Suter et al. 2007; Bornstein et al. 2005; Cecchetti et al. 2012).

2.6 Dental trauma

Dental trauma occur more frequently in young men. This increased risk of male patients is due, among other things, to a greater involvement of boys in sports and games, as well as to more injury-prone sports such as football or martial arts (Andreasen 2019). (American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry 2022).

2.7 Dental Implants

There are few studies that address the gender issue regarding implant procedures. One study shows that women are more likely to experience delayed wound healing after implant procedures (Kahn et al. 2021).

2.8 Stomatology

The female gender increases the probability of developing symptomatic oral lichen planus by a factor of 2.9. Hormonal factors are suspected since it occurs more frequently postmenopausally (Osipoff et al. 2020).

Burning Mouth Syndrome occurs more frequently in women than in men. (F:M=5:1). Biological, sociocultural and psychological reasons are referred to in the literature (Feller et al. 2017).

REFERENCES:

Ahmad M, Gaalaas L. Fibro-Osseous and Other Lesions of Bone in the Jaws. *Radiol Clin North Am.* 2018;56(1):91-104. doi:10.1016/j.rcl.2017.08.007

Andreasen, J.O.; Andreasen, F.M.; Andersson, L. *Textbook and Color. Atlas of Traumatic Injuries to the Teeth*; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, NJ, USA, 2019.

American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry. Policy on prevention of sports-related orofacial injuries. The Reference Manual of Pediatric Dentistry. Chicago, Ill.: American Academy of Pediatric Dentistry; 2022:121-6.

Bornstein MM, Filippi A, Altermatt HJ, Lambrecht JT, Buser D. Die odontogene Keratozyste--odontogene Zyste oder benigner Tumor? [The odontogenic keratocyst--odontogenic cyst or benign tumor?]. Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed. 2005;115(2):110-128.

Cecchetti F, Ottria L, Bartuli F, Bramanti NE, Arcuri C. Prevalence, distribution, and differential diagnosis of nasopalatine duct cysts. *Oral Implantol (Rome)*. 2012;5(2-3):47-53.

Kahn A, Masri D, Shalev T, Meir H, Sebaoun A, Chaushu L. Patients' Perception of Recovery after Dental Implant Placement. *Medicina* (*Kaunas*). 2021;57(10):1111. Published 2021 Oct 15. doi:10.3390/medicina57101111

Feller L, Fourie J, Bouckaert M, Khammissa RAG, Ballyram R, Lemmer J. Burning Mouth Syndrome: Aetiopathogenesis and Principles of Management. *Pain Res Manag.* 2017;2017:1926269. doi:10.1155/2017/1926269

Filippi A. Wundheilung und Heilungsstörungen nach Entfernung dritter Molaren. *Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed*. 2001;111(7):847-856

LeBoff, M., Greenspan, S., Insogna, K. *et al.* The clinician's guide to prevention and treatment of osteoporosis. *Osteoporos Int* **33**, 2049–2102 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s00198-021-05900-y

Osipoff A, Carpenter MD, Noll JL, Valdez JA, Gormsen M, Brennan MT. Predictors of symptomatic oral lichen planus. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol.* 2020;129(5):468-477. doi:10.1016/j.oooo.2019.12.019

Pick E, Schäfer T, Al-Haj Husain A, Rupp NJ, Hingsammer L, Valdec S. Clinical, Radiological, and Pathological Diagnosis of Fibro-Osseous Lesions of the Oral and Maxillofacial Region: A Retrospective Study. *Diagnostics (Basel)*. 2022;12(2):238. Published 2022 Jan 19. doi:10.3390/diagnostics12020238

Suter VG, Altermatt HJ, Voegelin TC, Bornstein MM. Die nasopalatinale Zyste. Epidemiologie, Diagnostik und Therapie [The nasopalatine duct cyst--epidemiology, diagnosis and therapy]. *Schweiz Monatsschr Zahnmed*. 2007;117(8):824-839.

Xu JL, Sun L, Liu C, Sun ZH, Min X, Xia R. Effect of oral contraceptive use on the incidence of dry socket in females following impacted mandibular third molar extraction: a meta-analysis. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2015;44(9):1160-1165. doi:10.1016/j.ijom.2015.05.017

3 Clinic of Conservative and Preventive Dentistry

3.1 Oral health, caries, and microbiome

Evidence has been provided to demonstrate that caries risk factors for women include a different salivary composition and flow rate, hormonal fluctuations, dietary habits, genetic variations, and particular social roles among their family (Ferraro et al. 2010).

Men are more likely to: ignore their oral health, have poorer oral hygiene habits, periodontitis and dental trauma than women. Men also visit dentists less frequently and seek oral treatment more often for an acute problem and less often for disease prevention than women (Lipsky et al. 2021; Su et al. 2022).

Men brushed less frequently and shorter period of time than women. Males gender is a risk factor for gingival bleeding and poor oral hygiene behavior (Abe et al. 2020).

Male to female ratio of 2:1 for oral cancer due to tobacco use, heavier alcohol use and longer sun exposure rates of periodontal disease, caries, oral cancer (Lipsky et al. 2021). Men showed a different kind of oral microbiome than women. Men and non-smokers had higher bacteria counts in saliva (Lira-Junior et al. 2018).

3.2 Dental treatment

Dental treatment avoidance with younger age and men; unemployment and men, lower social strata in women; increased depressive symptoms in men and increased physical illnesses and men (Spinler et al. 2021).

3.3 Gingival recession

Men had significantly more gingival recession, gingival bleeding, subgingival calculus, and more teeth with total calculus than women in the US adult population (Albandar et al. 1999).

3.4 Periodontitis

Men have higher prevalence of periodontitis than women (50.2% vs 34.6%) (Eke et al. 2018).

3.5 Diabetes and Periodontitis

Men have higher prevalence of Diabetes associated with moderate-severe Periodontitis. This relationship not found in women (Liu et al. 2018).

3.6 Dentists' gender

Patients with female dentists results in more regular visits and preventive oral health behaviours. Dentist's gender has important clinical implications for patients (Takeuchi et al. 2020).

3.7 Gingival inflammation

Women have higher hormonal influence and periods of significant hormonal surges on gingival inflammation (due to puberty, menstrual cycle, pregnancy and the perimenopause) (Boyapati et al. 2021).

Women have increased prevalence of gingivitis in pregnancy (Figuero et al. 2010).

3.8 Caries

Adolescent girls have greater susceptibility to caries than boys throughout Germany (Ferraro et al. 2010).

3.9 Periodontitis and Osteoporosis

Women treated with estrogen for postmenopausal osteoporosis leads to lower prevalence of severe periodontitis than women not receiving treatment (Passos-Soares et al. 2017).

Elderly women with osteoporosis have a greater chance to present periodontitis, with higher severity than those with normal bone mineral dentistry (Penoni et al. 2016; Penoni et al. 2019).

3.10 Oral contrceptives and Periodontitis

The use of hormonal contraceptives may be associated to severity of periodontal diseases in women (Castro et al. 2021).

3.11

REFERENCES

Abe M, Mitani A, Hoshi K, Yanagimoto S. Large Gender Gap in Oral Hygiene Behavior and Its Impact on Gingival Health in Late Adolescence. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2020;17(12):4394. Published 2020 Jun 18. doi:10.3390/ijerph17124394

Albandar JM, Kingman A. Gingival recession, gingival bleeding, and dental calculus in adults 30 years of age and older in the United States, 1988-1994. *J Periodontol.* 1999;70(1):30-43. doi:10.1902/jop.1999.70.1.30

Boyapati R, Cherukuri SA, Bodduru R, Kiranmaye A. Influence of Female Sex Hormones in Different Stages of Women on Periodontium. *J Midlife Health*. 2021;12(4):263-266. doi:10.4103/jmh.jmh_142_21

Castro, M.M.L., Ferreira, M.K.M., Prazeres, I.E.E. *et al.* Is the use of contraceptives associated with periodontal diseases? A systematic review and meta-analyses. *BMC*

Women's Health **21**, 48 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12905-021-01180-0

Eke PI, Thornton-Evans GO, Wei L, Borgnakke WS, Dye BA, Genco RJ. Periodontitis in US Adults: National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2009-2014. *J Am Dent Assoc.* 2018;149(7):576-588.e6. doi:10.1016/j.adaj.2018.04.023

Ferraro M, Vieira AR. Explaining gender differences in caries: a multifactorial approach to a multifactorial disease. *Int J Dent*. 2010; 649643. doi:10.1155/2010/649643

Figuero E, Carrillo-de-Albornoz A, Martin C, Tobias A, Herrera D. Effect of pregnancy on gingival inflammation in systemically healthy women: a systematic review. J Clin Periodontol 2013; 40: 457 – 473. doi: 10.1111/jcpe.12053.

Lipsky MS, Su S, Crespo CJ, Hung M. Men and Oral Health: A Review of Sex and Gender Differences. *Am J Mens Health*. 2021;15(3):15579883211016361. doi:10.1177/15579883211016361

Lira-Junior R, Åkerman S, Klinge B, Boström EA, Gustafsson A. Salivary microbial profiles in relation to age, periodontal, and systemic diseases. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(3):e0189374. Published 2018 Mar 14. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0189374

Liu Y, Yu Y, Nickel JC, et al. Gender differences in the association of periodontitis and type 2 diabetes. *Int Dent J.* 2018;68(6):433-440. doi:10.1111/idj.12399

Passos Soares JS, Vianna MIP, Gomes-Filho IS, et al. Association between osteoporosis treatment and severe periodontitis in postmenopausal women. *Menopause*. 2017;24(7):789-795.

doi:10.1097/GME.0000000000000830

Penoni DC, Torres SR, Farias ML, Fernandes TM, Luiz RR, Leão AT. Association of osteoporosis and bone medication with the periodontal condition in elderly women. *Osteoporos Int.* 2016;27(5):1887-1896. doi:10.1007/s00198-015-3437-y

Spinler K, Aarabi G, Walther C, et al. Determinants of dental treatment avoidance: findings from a nationally representative study. *Aging Clin Exp Res.* 2021;33(5):1337-1343. doi:10.1007/s40520-020-01652-7

Su S, Lipsky MS, Licari FW, Hung M. Comparing oral health behaviours of men and women in the United States. *J Dent.* 2022;122:104157. doi:10.1016/j.jdent.2022.104157

Takeuchi K, Noguchi Y, Nakai Y, Ojima T, Yamashita Y. Dentist gender-related differences in patients' oral health behaviour. *J Oral Sci.* 2020;62(1):32-35. doi:10.2334/josnusd.18-0462

4 Clinic of Masticatory Disorders

4.1 Temporomandibular Disorders

Female gender more than doubles the risk of developing TMD. However, other equally important factors reported in the recent literature must be also taken into account, such as self-rated general health conditions, general chronic pain disorders, age, study site, ethnicity, and psychosocial and genetic factors (Bueno et al. 2018). Among males the prevalence differences between age groups are inconsistent and small, whereas among females prevalence clearly peaks, in middle age, whereas it is lower in the youngest age group and the two oldest age groups. (National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine 2020. Temporomandibular **Priorities** Research for Washington, DC: The National Academies Press.).

4.2 Primary Headaches

Cluster Headache M:W=2:1 (Lund et al. 2019)

Migraine

Women are more commonly affected than men with a lifetime prevalence of 12–17% and 4–6%, respectively (Straube et al. 2019).

4.3 Trigeminal neuralgia

The proportion between women and men who had TN was 3 to 1, the affected age range was 37 to 67 years old. (Porto De Toledo et al. 2016).

4.4 Burning Mouth Syndrome

In the population- based studies the pooled prevalence of BMS for female was 1.15% and for male was 0.38% (Wu et al. 2021).

REFERENCES:

Bueno CH, Pereira DD, Pattussi MP, Grossi PK, Grossi ML. Gender differences in temporomandibular disorders in adult populational studies: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Oral Rehabil.* 2018;45(9):720-729. doi:10.1111/joor.12661

De Toledo IP, Conti Réus J, Fernandes M, et al. Prevalence of trigeminal neuralgia: A systematic review. *J Am Dent Assoc.* 2016;147(7):570-576.e2. doi:10.1016/j.adaj.2016.02.014

Lund N, Petersen A, Snoer A, Jensen RH, Barloese M. Cluster headache is associated with unhealthy lifestyle and lifestyle-related comorbid diseases: Results from the Danish Cluster Headache Survey. *Cephalalgia*. 2019;39(2):254-263. doi:10.1177/0333102418784751

National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine; Health and Medicine Division; Board on Health Care Services; Board on Health Sciences Policy; Committee on Temporomandibular Disorders (TMDs): From Research Discoveries to Clinical Treatment, Yost O, Liverman CT, English R, Mackey S, Bond EC, eds. *Temporomandibular Disorders: Priorities for Research and Care.* Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US); March 12, 2020.

Straube, A., Andreou, A. Primary headaches during lifespan. *J Headache Pain* **20**, 35 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s10194-019-0985-0

Wu S, Zhang W, Yan J, Noma N, Young A, Yan Z. Worldwide prevalence estimates of burning mouth syndrome: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Oral Dis.* 2022;28(6):1431-1440. doi:10.1111/odi.13868

5 Clinic of General, Special Care and Geriatic Dentistry

5.1 Tooth loss and edentulism

According to the results of the DMS V there are hardly any measurable gender-specific differences in the number of missing teeth at the group of 65-74 years old participants of the study (n=1042): female seniors in this group show a loss of 11.2 teeth and male seniors 11.0 teeth. In the group of older seniors (75-100 years old, n=1133) a gender-specific difference of around 2 missing teeth was observed: older women had a higher rate of tooth loss than older men. The significant influence of gender on edentulism was not observed in the group of younger seniors (65-74 years old). For older study participants (75-100 years old), however, the influence of gender on edentulism is noticeable: women (35.7%) versus men (28.5%) [Jordan & Micheelis 2016].

5.2 Denture stomatitis

Epidemiological studies report prevalence of denture stomatitis among denture wearers to range from 15% to over 70%. A literature review indicates that the incidence of denture stomatitis is higher among elderly denture users and among women (Gendreau at al 2011). Gender related difference in the prevalence of denture stomatitis was also found in a clinical study in Portugal denture-related stomatitis was more prevalent in females (60%) than in males (34.0%) (Figueiral at al. 2007) and in Iran with significantly more women (85%) than men (15%) (Atashrazm et al. 2013).

5.3 Xerostomia and Hyposalivation

The estimates of xerostomia prevalence from studies of representative samples of older populations range from 12% to 39% (with a weighted average of about21%) (Thomson et al. 2015).

Research showed a high prevalence of xerostomia and salivary gland hypofunction in vulnerable elders: it can be as high as 72% among institutionalized older adults. Common etiologies include medications, poor general health, female gender, and age. (Liu et al. 2012). Xerostomia has been shown to be more frequent in females than males (Margaryan et al 2017 and Krajewski Jr et al 2022).

5.4 Stroke and Post-stroke dysphagia

Significant gender differences were observed by Banda et al. (2022) in a meta-analysis: female participants demonstrated to have a higher risk of Post-stroke dysphagia compared to male participants. The study findings are inconsistent with previous studies, which found no significant gender differences in the risk of post-stroke dysphagia. The possible explanation for this outcome would be that women have shown to have worse stroke-associated outcomes because they experience their first ever stroke at an older age compared to men. Therefore, the findings that women are on higher risk for post-stroke dysphagia compared to men may be explained by their age (Banda et al. 2022).

5.5 Oral potentially malignant disorders

The most encountered oral potentially malignant disorders (OPMD) are leukoplakia, but others, including lichen planus, oral submucous fibrosis, and erythroplakia, may also be seen. OPMDs have a statistically increased risk of progressing to cancer. Malignant transformation rates are higher in older individuals and in females. Even though lesions are less common in females, the rate of malignant transformation is greater in females than in males. It is still unclear why women are more predisposed to malignant transformation compared with men (Speight et al 2018).

REFERENCE:

Atashrazm P, Sadri D. Prevalence of oral mucosal lesions in a group of Iranian dependent elderly complete denture wearers. *J Contemp Dent Pract.* 2013;14(2):174-

178. Published 2013 Mar 1. doi:10.5005/jp-journals-10024-1295

Banda KJ, Chu H, Kang XL, et al. Prevalence of dysphagia and risk of pneumonia and mortality in acute stroke patients: a meta-analysis. *BMC Geriatr.* 2022;22(1):420. Published 2022 May 13. doi:10.1186/s12877-022-02960-5

Figueiral MH, Azul A, Pinto E, Fonseca PA, Branco FM, Scully C. Denture-related stomatitis: identification of aetiological and predisposing factors - a large cohort. *J Oral Rehabil.* 2007;34(6):448-455. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2842.2007.01709.x

Gendreau L, Loewy ZG. Epidemiology and etiology of denture stomatitis. *J Prosthodont*. 2011;20(4):251-260. doi:10.1111/j.1532-849X.2011.00698.x

Jordan, R. & Micheelis, W. [Fifth German oral health survey]. Köln: Deutscher Ärzteverlag.

Krajewski MP Jr, Mo Q, Lu CH, et al. Medication Use Among Patients Reporting Xerostomia of an Academic Dental Clinic. *J Pharm Technol.* 2022;38(5):264-271. doi:10.1177/87551225221108599

Liu B, Dion MR, Jurasic MM, Gibson G, Jones JA. Xerostomia and salivary hypofunction in vulnerable elders: prevalence and etiology. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol.* 2012;114(1):52-60. doi:10.1016/j.oooo.2011.11.014

Margaryan EG, Arakelyan MG. Polovye osobennosti sliunootdeleniia [Gender related salivation features]. *Stomatologiia (Mosk).* 2017;96(5):37-39. doi:10.17116/stomat201796537-39

Speight PM, Khurram SA, Kujan O. Oral potentially malignant disorders: risk of progression to malignancy. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol.* 2018;125(6):612-627. doi:10.1016/j.oooo.2017.12.011

Thomson WM. Dry mouth and older people. *Aust Dent J.* 2015;60 Suppl 1:54-63. doi:10.1111/adj.12284